
 

 
 

Date:  November 2, 2015 

 

To:  Parks & Community Services Board 

 

From:  Terry Smith, Parks & Community Services 

 

Subject: Board Discussion – Process to discuss renaming  

  (Board direction requested) 

 

At your meeting on September 10, 2015, the Board will have a discussion about a process 

recommendation for considering the renaming of the Crossroads Community Center after Nan 

Campbell. This is a follow-up to the Board discussion that took place at the June 9, 2015 meeting. 

 

For your information here is the portion of the minutes from that meeting that covers the discussion 

and Board action. Additionally, we have included attachments on the Park Naming Policy and a copy 

of the Nan Campbell bio that was previously provided to the Board.  

 

Minutes from June 9, 2015 meeting: 

 
D. Potential Re-Naming a Facility in Nan Campbell’s Honor  

 

Chair Grindeland explained that she suggested at the May Board meeting that the Crossroads 

Community Center be renamed in honor of Nan Campbell due to the outpouring of warmth, 

memories, and love to honor Ms. Campbell.  

 

Motion by Boardmember Powell and second by Boardmember Van Hollebeke to 

conduct the next board meeting at Crossroads Community Center and to notify the 

community that there will be an open comment period during this meeting regarding 

renaming the facility.  
 

Boardmember Van Hollebeke suggested that the outreach regarding renaming the Crossroads 

Community Center be partial to the Crossroads surrounding community. He suggested that a 

methodical action plan be put into place to allow the Board to make an informed 

recommendation to Council based upon community support, outreach, and a thorough 

understanding of the issue.  

 

Boardmember Kumar inquired if an online survey should be conducted to allow for other 

naming suggestions/recommendations. Mr. Foran explained that the integrity of the online 

survey process for Georgia Zumdieck Park was difficult to manage. He suggested that an 

alternate method be utilized.  

 

Boardmembers discussed the handful of parks that have been named after individuals. 

Boardmember Heath suggested that Boardmembers may want to have a discussion about the 

historic criteria for naming a park after an individual. Boardmember Van Hollebeke 

City of Bellevue 
Parks & Community  

Services Department 

 
MEMORANDUM 

85



 

requested additional information regarding Nan Campbell’s historic significance in the 

community. Chair Grindeland suggested that the Eastside Heritage Center attend next 

month’s meeting to provide information.  

 

At the question, motion failed (1-5) to conduct the next board meeting at Crossroads 

Community Center and notify the community that comments will be received during 

this meeting regarding renaming the facility.  

 

Motion by Boardmember Van Hollebeke and second by Boardmember Powell to 

request that staff provide a more substantive process for renaming the Crossroads 

Community Center and the criteria for doing so.  
 

Boardmember Heath was concerned that naming a park or facility after an individual can 

ultimately divide the City. He added that geographic designations remove any personalities.  

 

At the question, motion failed (1-5) to request that staff provide a more substantive 

process for renaming the Crossroads Community Center and the criteria for doing so.  
 

Motion by Boardmember Heath and second by Boardmember Powell to postpone 

further discussions regarding re-naming a facility in Nan Campbell’s honor until the 

September Board meeting. Motion carried unanimously (6-0).  
 

 

 

 

Attachments: 

Park Naming Policy 

Nan Campbell Bios – provided by Pam Toelle during Oral Communications  

Archive Records – Nan Campbell re: Crossroads Community Center discussions 

86



87



88



89



90



91



Documentation concerning Nan Campbell’s involvement with the planning and development 
of Crossroads Park and Community Center, as well as her engagement with and advocacy for 
the Crossroads neighborhood in general. 

 

May 5, 1978 
Letter to Lee Springgate, Parks Director, from Crossroads Citizens Committee: 

“The purpose of this letter is to reaffirm our position that the proposal for shared use of 
Village Greens between a park and a golf course is totally unacceptable…Crossroads is a 
troubled area due to the population density, high percentage of single parent 
households, high incidence of crime and juvenile delinquency, inadequate social 
services, and the lack of parks and open space. The park is a major chance to break the 
cycle. With still more apartments being built and with the high cost of housing forcing 
more families with children into these apartments, the need for adequate park space 
becomes crucial…To set aside nearly 50% of this much-needed land for the exclusive use 
of golfers, who represent a small minority of the population, seems neither rational nor 
fair…Without the high percentage of yes votes by Crossroads residents, the bond would 
have failed…We believe that the golf course and park cannot be safely combined...We 
are pleased with the decision to construct a multipurpose Community Center. 
Although a gymnasium is desirable, the pressing need is for the services a Community 
Center will provide. Our group is looking forward to working with the Park Department 
to help plan and organize this facility, and we are willing to work toward obtaining 
funding for a gymnasium.” (emphasis not in the original) 

 

August 15, 1979 
Public comment at a regular meeting of the City of Bellevue Planning Commission: 

“Nan Campbell…, a member of the Crossroads Subarea Committee, requested that a 
recommendation on this subarea plan adoption not be delayed so the City Council can 
consider the plan before the building moratorium in the Crossroads area is lifted.” 

During discussion of the Crossroads Subarea Plan, at the same meeting: 

“Youth Recreation Policy: This policy should read ‘Provide an informal centrally located 
facility in Crossroads with programs for passive and active recreation for youth 
indoors, especially keyed for unsupervised youth.’ 

Considerable discussion was held on the wording of this policy. Nan Campbell explained 
that a center for youth is a strong desire for the Crossroads area; a facility is wanted 
that will allow youth to have a casual gathering place. It is possible that the center can 
be used by senior citizens when the facilities are not being used by the youth 
population, i.e., during school hours. For clarification, Ms. Campbell stated ‘centrally 
located’ should be interpreted as ‘in the middle of the fast food area’.” (emphasis not in 
the original) 

92



 

May 18, 1984 
Minutes of Council Park Committee meeting: 

“Steve Sackenreuter from the Crossroads Center gave a report on the positive progress 
occurring there. Since its opening in 1981 major youth crime is down 30-35% in the 
area. There is an approximate daily attendance of 300. Programming for all age levels is 
available, however, the priorities are still heavily geared toward youth. Approximately 
25-30% of the youth using the Center are minorities, Asian refugees, blacks and from 
low-income/single parent families. 

Nan Campbell stated that the Crossroads Center was established in the first place to 
fill the primary need of the youth in the area who had no other place to go.” (emphasis 
not in the original) 

 

 

93



 

94



 

 

 

 

Date:  November 2, 2015 
 
To:    Parks & Community Services Board  
 
From:    Sherry Grindeland, Vice-Chair  
 
Subject:  Nan Campbell Community Center at Crossroads Park – Proposed Process  
  (Board direction requested) 
 
 
If we choose to recommend to City Council the attached proposed process for renaming/naming 
parks, this is what it would look like for the Community Center. 
 
Compile the material 
The material about Nan Campbell is included in this packet. 
 
In addition, I met with friends of Ms. Campbell in August to get more background. They are happy to 
come make a more formal presentation –as they did last spring when we were renaming Bovee Park 
-  about the impact Ms. Campbell had on Bellevue and specifically on the Crossroads area. 
 
Ms. Campbell founded the Crossroads Citizens Committee and served as chair from 1976-1981. 
What I had forgotten and most of you probably didn’t know is Crossroads was a blighted area at that 
time. The Citizens committee was formed because it was area no one wanted to live in by choice. 
Gangs were hanging out in what was at the time a small shopping center, and the only recreation 
opportunities were a run-down golf course and a failing ice skating rink. You didn’t walk or drive 
there after dark. 
 
With the help of the University of Washington Division of Community Development, the Crossroads 
Citizens Committee did a door to door study in 1977 and 1978 to get a complete picture of the area. 
They found families, many of them immigrant families, living in apartments that had no play areas or 
recreation facilities. 
 
From that committee’s work came the proposal to secure funding for Crossroads Park and 
community center and to develop Bellevue’s human services programs and policies.  
 

City of Bellevue 
Parks & Community  

Services Department 

 
MEMORANDUM 

95



 

 

Nan Campbell was elected to the Bellevue City Council in the 1980s and became Bellevue’s first 
woman mayor. 
 
Without Ms. Campbell’s efforts, there would have been no Crossroads Park. 
 

96



 

 

Proposed Process for Naming or Renaming a Park, Park Building or Playing Field 
 
 
 
Compile the material 
 In historical context – do thorough research with the help of the Parks staff and heritage and 
historical organizations. 
 Neighborhood or geographical identification – provide background of the neighborhood and 
geographical name and alternatives. 
 For a corporation, non-profit organization or an individual – provide background material 
about the land, monetary contribution or the compelling connection to Bellevue/and/or the park 
system.  
 
Announcement to the community/public of the proposal 
 
Community meetings (2) – as the Parks and Community Services Department does for other 
proposed park plans. These meetings should be held as near the area as possible – i.e., the Bridle 
Trails natural park area hearing being held near the Bridle Trails neighborhood. 
 
Online survey 
 
Present to the Park Board 
 
Present results (if action is needed) to City Council 
 
 

97



 

 

 
Proposed Process for Renaming Crossroads Community Center 

in Honor of Nan Campbell 
 
 
Announcement to the community/public of the proposal 
I propose two community meetings at Crossroads Community Center to present this proposal to the 
neighborhood. Dates to be determined by what else is on the calendar, availability of space at the 
center and at Parks staff convenience. 
 
Online survey 
The Nan Campbell Park was the top vote-getter when we were seeking community input for Bovee 
Park renaming. I propose another on-line survey so the process is complete and not short-changed. 
 
Present to the Park Board 
Present the results to a meeting of the Park Board when completed, preferably by February (or 
sooner). 
 
Present results (if action is needed) to City Council 
  
 
 

98




